On Incoder of the first week, while working on atoms pitching detail

I ups told to report to it. Sullivan at Managementers. Managementers at that
time being a heatily converted ald read house at the corner of Tampa Bay
Boulevard, and Smith Street.

In 14. Selliven's office were grouped four or five men who had also been called. All of us had been teachers in civilian life. It. Selliven explained to unthat schools had to be organized, and training started in the Aircraft Marxing Service, of which us knew nothing. We were to be instructors in the Aircraft Marxing Service School (plotting, Filtering sta.) Leoking us ever, he then told so that I would be acting department head until sensene who knew sensthing about the system arrived. He then gave us a bestlet issued by then the 3rd Interceptor Command on "Civilian Defenses" which covered in brief the AMS of that time.

Sitting in the sum on a portion of the old renney, we read the short booklet. Their same afternoon we reported back to Lie Sulliven, and made a few plane. This first group of instructors included Private Ted Heck, Pvic Barin Stampf, Pvic Sockrew Sugg, Pvic Jack Horner, Pvic John Taylor, Pvic Preddie Faller, and Pvic Smith and symmetr.

The following arrangements were made.

We were issued passes which were good for all day, in order that we might go to town to look up information and organize our course.

At first, we used the Tampa Pablic Library, We were always received cordially, and found several articles on the AMS in the magnaines there, the best of which was in the New York Times. It was in a private room in the library, that our first schedule was formed.

All this time, we really know very little about the AMS, and had agree your the equipment or may tables used.

About a week after we formed, it. Sallivan arranged for we to visit the Information Center in Tampa (which was under construction). There it. Milton Could gave us several loctures on the Aff system. Hongry for additional knowledge, and a little practical work curvalves, we made a hargain with the clority T/Sgt., in charge. On a Saturday meening we came to the Tampa, Information Center, and cleaned up the recus, latrines, washed windows etc., and in the afternoon, we came back, and they assured all our questions, and paralited us to work as Flotters, and Filterers on the Filter Board.

At the same time as the above events were taking place, other schools such as India and Mossage Contor, were also being organized. The Redia School sound to be doing the best since they had an able leader from the start in Capt. Bier, who secured equipment, tents, etc., for their school.

School was acheduled to start just before Christmas. On our Company bulletin boards appeared a list of posiculists, and who was to be trained in each. Under our school, then called the A.W.S. School appeared Raid Cherks, Chief Platter Sellers, Status Cherks, etc., and so many Civilian Instructoral This last item complet all special

On the merning of the fire day of school, I steed on a pile of lumber, and gathered tegether the 200 non who were to start in our school. Just as I started to make some opening remarks I noticed more non walking up. This continued until I had some four hundred non all wanting to go to the ANS school, to be Civilian Instructors. Other schools, that first day, had allowed their non to run over to us if they should a professmee. It. Sullivan was compelled to delay the opening of school, until the carellment mag wa

untengled. School opening was not for December 29, 1941.

more questions at the Tempa Information Center. We secured two stoncils
from the new Reproduction Department which had a room at Headqueriers, and
cut several stancils. With wrapping paper, and crayun, we also made several
charts on the organization of the Third Air Perco.

infere school started, \$/\$gt., Sturgess was called to Brow, and took charge of our school. We secured a large circus test for an Inferentian Couter, and some ald equipment from the base. Opl. Badds some jained us from Charleston, where he had been working in the I.C.

On the first day, we split the 200 men up into groups and marched our men to some spot to teach.

With the over present sound of Dissals planing up the and, and the groups of see-galls overhead, we sat our students down on a pile of tent sidings, and started to impart what we learned about the A.F.S. Later we began to use a section of the old runnay. There, with our groups sected about us, we taugh in the open air. Then we administered the first Otis tests, it was done outside on most tables.

Grade as it was, the see learned and behaved. Nost of them were our friends from Whoeler, and a sujerity had completed college. Them too, all of us were instructors in civilism life.

This first eyels lasted eight weeks. After the first week, we had a few pieces (8) of equipment to show them, which we passed around from group to group. And finally we had the I.C. set up in the circus tent, and wired by Sgt. Teskes. Hear the end of the first cycle, we were notified that we had to drop all but the best 200 of our non. These were to secure intensive training, and be qualified in one week to mm I.G.'s in Minni, Toppe, Charleston, Atlanta, and other conters in the Third Air Perce Area.

For one week, the instructors warind from eight in the norming until toulve at might. Instruction, and practice in comp all day, and them conveys to term where we gave them further practice in the Touga, I.O. from mine until toulve.

One week after we graduate this first group, they were shipped. During this first cycle, Capt. Summ and id. Hell were assigned to our department. These were the first of the many efficers to take charge. They were followed by id. Hilton Gould, id. Earl Horley, it. Elackstock, it. Hellins, it. Frunk B. Herrelke, Capt. J.W. (I.O.) Godfrey, it. Hecktion, it. Fuel Mil Smithsonki and at present Capt. Frunk B. Horgan.

Through all those early days, we were harranced by the rain and wind which continually blaw down our circus tent or ripped it to phose. Our students were subject to guard, K.P. etc., and the same number never should up each merning.

Our first waps were pointed by Pvt. Branelle, who was a conserioul artist in civilies life. In later menths, he organized the Drafting Section of our Department which has trained many AN Draftessen, and supplied the school with excellent boards and teaching side. Pvt. Louis D. Briggs was our Supply Sergeont.

On the first day of Pobruary, we were all appointed Serguents. The Sth and 9th Interceptor Commands also took from us Pvt. Jack Horner, and Pvt. John Taylor. Then in Murch, Pvt. Hush, Pvt. Stampf, Pvt. Sugg, and Pvt. Fuller were sent to England to study the A.W.S. there.

In one week it was necessary then to re-organise a new staff. Sgt.
Sturgeon and Opl. Node, and left for dation elements on the field, therefore
it was fortunate that sees non from Comp Saan, California, who had had
seen work in AF, where shipped to Drow, and had been carelled in school.
Also, the SCEst from Comp Dix carrived at Drow Field, Both Hone or Dix A.F.
schools had started, so from these non who were carelled in school, a new
staff was formed. On the following Henday, Opl. Robert C. Leese, Prt. Villian
S. Genete, Prt. George Thompson, Opl. Mitchell, Opl. Cobb, and Pfs. Charles
E. Berty started teaching.

At the end of Murch, we had our first Officer's class, some whom were Major Floyd, Capt. Hereng, and Major LePevre.

On May 1, 1963, we moved to our five (5) new buildings at the corner of 5th and H Streets, and set up an 903-5, taught our students how to eperate it, and had it in working order for the visit of General Sensyvell. It. Herrelko was them the Repartment Head.

The staff gradually grow. 5gt. Brunelle enlarged the Brafting Section, and initiated the school for A.V. Draftenen.

All summer, we employed the 808-5, and tought what was called the "American Partiable System". In the fall of October 1942, we shifted to the so-called "Man American Systems", which is practically the same system we teach today. Proviously to October, we had included a week's work of this new system in the four week course.

During these Summer and Fall months, Sgt. Robert G. Leese was on D.S. in Taxinges, Alabama, teaching the first all Megre Signal A.V. groups.

In Documber of 1962, It. Eromor, IA. Pritcherd, and It. Mainfall were added to the Department to begin the Ground Observers course. The number of students in the school westly increased until at one time, there were over seven hundred in training. There case we had seven instructors, we now had eighty, with some twenty other personnal as electes, wire use, maintenance and supply.

Our original five buildings gradually instrumed to 1h buildings, in the year from May 1942 to May 1943. Those were all in the vicinity of 5th and H Streets.

The term-over of instructors was not too great, except for a few who went to 0.6.5. Next of the instructors were these gathered from the 50Let from Comp Dix, and the 50Lth from Comp Beam in March of 15L2. The 505th which returned to Brow Field from Charleston, also provided us with a number of instructors. It seemed that Brow was destined to become the Conter for 1.5. Training.

In the week after Pearl Marber, when we from Wheeler came to Drwy, men from Fort Bragg were sent to Dix, and non from McChard Field, Washington, were likewise sent there for A.W. Training. Others in Comp Reherts, California were shipped to Camp Hann, and started on I.C. School there. Within a few menths however, they all came to Drww. The A.W. school in Camp Cremter was the last to alone. Henry of their instructors, and equipment came to us in July 1963.

In March 1942, the Orlando School, was opened, but it assumed the nature of a research, and specialist center. Drow continued to turn out large numbers of non. I ands several trips to Orlando to secure the latest information on A.W. The first trip on while I was with IA. Marrelles in September, 1942. At that time we observed the school, and its equipment, and had an interesting informational talk with Ool. Gody on the use of the SCS-5.

My second trip was with it. Dedde (formerly this Dedde mentioned proviously) to secure more information on the "New American System". The last trip was with it. Meniding to the Ocale Retional Forcet where a mebile training and experimental outfit was being carried out at Lake Doc. This last trip was made in Jenuary 1963.

These trips served the purpose of most meeted liminum. When operation training of "P" Stage was begun, similar trips were made to correlate basis with field training.

During the manuer, fall, and winter of 1968 and 1963, we sent groups of instructors to Orlando to take the Filterery course until almost 100 percent were qualified 515's.

In the summer and full of 1962 we received unusually peer personnel to train. The everage age of the classes was quite high, and most of them were classified as 3 or 4 on their ACCT scores. It seemed that the 1 and 2 new were being skinned off at Atlantic City, and Missi, and the ANS get what was left.

Another shringle was the total lack of a 7/0 for the instructors and the fact that they lived in various organizations. Since June 1962, the men who had been teaching since March were unde 7/k's, and three of them made Staff Sergeant, through their companies in September 1962. He other makings were insued to instructors until the end of May 1963. Nover was the 7/0 adequated

In August 1943, a number of instructors were transferred to the 2nd Praining Settalian to serve as a smalane for the entre. One of them had served faithfully as a Brafting instructor for one year, and left the Department still a <u>Salauk</u>ent Private. In February 1943, all the instructors were paleed in the 501st which was to be the school organisation. After a series of changes the 588th S.A.W. Battalien became the organisation to hold the instructors.

Of the orginal instructors mentioned, almost all are at present commissioned officers serving in the Aircraft Warning Services. The last to go to 0.0.5., I reported to Mismi, September 18, 1943. It. Buch is in the Boston Information Center. Lt. Sugg is with the I.C. Department at Drew Field, Lt. Fuller is with AAFSAT in Orlando, and Lt. Stumpf recently graduated from Mismi. Pvt. Taylor after going out with the 8th Fighter Cemmand in January 1942, joined the Clider Patrol. Pvt. Jack Horner is a first sergeant in North Africa with the 12th Fighter Command. Pvt. Smith went to the Atlanta Information Center in February 1942, and hasn't been heard from sime.

Lt. Hall, one of our first officers, was in mand charge of the Tempu, Information Center for some time, and his whereabouts is not known at present.

It. Gould, must to school at Bell Laboratories, then returned to Drew to mork with the Operational Training Stage, under Capt. Gould. Lt. Black-stock, and Lt. Morley are overseas.

Lt. Herrelko worked as 8-3 of "B" Stage, and as Ass't. Executive Officer of ANUTC under Col. Stern. Capt. Herrelko went to Mississippi with the Third Training Battalion.

Lt. Godfrey was promoted to Capt. and functioned as S-3, Executive Officer and Commanding Officer of "B" Stage. As Hajor Godfrey, he is now with the 2nd Training Battelion. Lt. Rechtien is at Harvard studying Electronics, and Lt. Smithkowski is assigned to the 2nd Signal A. W. Training Battelion.

Date 8 September, 1943

### The Product Roturns

March 1943 seer the return of Mingle, Rebert G. Lease to the Department after an absence of nine menths. He was on detected service at the Turingen Army Flying School, Turingen, Ala. At that station he was a member of the under which trained the first all-colored Signal A.W. Company in fact the first all-colored Signal unit of the United States Army. He was responsible for training the platting plateons of the Signal A.W. Companies. Sgt. Lease was made Assistant Oxiof Instructor of the Department in April 1942 by the Department Head, IA. Frank E. Berrelles, and served in that expenity upon his return from detected service in Alabama. In September 1943, M/Ngt. Lease took over from let Sgt., Hessel who laft for COS, Air Force Administration, after nearly two years on Oxiof Instructor of the Department.

#### MAC's

The MAC's unde a grand entrence when 2nd Lt. Sern O. Beell, 602nd.

The Filter Company, carelled 23 August 19k3 in the Information Center

Department Filterer's course for efficers. Lt. Beell hold the distinction
of being the first of the fair sex to be admitted here as a student. As a
matter of fact she was the first means to become associated with the school in
any especity.

The lady lieutement was the recipient of considerable attention and flattery. Unfortunately it could not have been apparent to her in-an-much as any custom denies enlisted son the freedom of expression termed the apparents som that civilians entertain. The efficiency however, were now attentive to her and IA. Beall never spent the mean hour unscourted.

8/Sgt. Million Kenemits, nor Assistant Chief Instructor, was allowed the priviledge of conducting the crientation course for the MAG officer. Although 8/Sgt. Kenemits was hookled and tensed, he mint maintained a cortain alcoloses, and carried on with his duties in a creditable manner.

After the exicutation, 14. Reall started the filterer's source from which she was graduated 18 September, 1983.

Four more MMG officers, these from the 767th Was Managementers Post Company, arrived 14 September 1943, and tesk the orientation course. The following week they carelled in the filterer's course.

The oppositions of MMC efficers at the school may be more than a passing funcy as spother one of the Corpe is to carell in the course next menths

## Milher or No Chesta

"Then or no chest", that was the question, but it was assured. As a matter of fact the problem of "No Chest" was solved by some resourceful instructors with the facility with which a man changes his shirt.

The situation was as follows: Students and instructors on the night which were without food in the form of a smal from evening more until the ment neon day. Coffee and cookies or doughnuts were served each mid-might but that did not satisfy the versaious spetites of many of the G.I.'s.

American ingenuity went into action. Cortain instructors made friends with certain mass personnel. By a not to elaborate underground process which lacked the carmers of accurity; cold meats, bread and milk were emuggled from various mass halls. So it was that hungry G.I.'s weary from a full might's work, partock of food.

This method of most disponentian continued until the middle of May 1963, when higher authority arranged to provide becomest to instructors at the close of each nights wate. This was approximated by all the instructors, although it did look the thrill that accompanies smalth. TELEPHONE AND TELEXBRAPH DEPARTMENT Trolininary Operational Training 588th Signal AW Battalion iron Flold

Temps, Flerida 28 October 1943

#### UNIT HISTORY

SECTION I (rersonuel and Administration)

## 1. Original unit.

- A. The designation of the original unit was the "Telephone and Teletype lepartment, Preliminary Operational Training, Jignal discraft farming imit Training, to Stage".
  - b. The date of organisation was 9 January 43.
  - c. The place of organization was from field, Tempo, Florida.
- 4. The authority of organization was T/D 11-1163-4, Far Copartment, Meadquarters, army air . orest. ( se incl 1)
- e. Hourses of personnel for the department were from the Telephone and Telegraph repartment and holding companies. This personnel was selected by the Telephone and Telegraph . epartment and ascigned to a holding company.

## 2. Changes in Organisation.

Local authority for organization was granted in Lecember il through the Signal Officer, III Interceptor Command, to form an Aircraft Marning School for the purpose of forming a regiment, a battalion, and two frontier companies. The Telephone and Telegraph department was formed at this time and person for instructors were drawn from various companies and placed on special daty with the department until key his when instructors were essigned to each department.

In April, 1962, new instructors were obtained from the Solst Signal Aircraft Sarning Regiment to be on special duty with the department.

in July, 1962, the name was changed to "Telephone and Telegraph repartment, "B" btage, Aircraft warning pervice Unit Training Conter".

In September, 1962, the designation become "Telephone and Telegraph separtment, 'B' Stage, Aircraft Warming Unit Training Centers.

In January, 19h3, a Table of Distribution was approved by the Mar Department and the authorized designation of the department become the "Telephone and Telegraph Department, Freliginary Operational Training, Signal Aircraft Marning Unit Training 18 Stage".

In May, 19kl, the school adopted the name "Telephone and Telegraph Department 'B' Stage, 2d Signal Aircraft darming Training Sattalian (Freliginary Operational Training)".

In August, 1943, the new name of "Telephone and Telegraph Copartment, Preliminary Operational Training, 588th Signal Aircraft Farming Battalium" was given to the school.

## 3. Strongth, Commissioned and Onlisted.

•	Officers	Enlisted Men
December 26, 1941	1	3
August 6, 1942	3	35
Getaber 11, 1942	5	34
November 26, 1942	6	37
January 9, 1943	5	38
August 14, 1943	1	18

b. Stations (personent or temporary) of unit or parts thereof,

Drew Field, Jampa, Jarida.

SECTION II (Intelligence)

Although some of the equipment was confidential, no cortificates of eligibility were required for instructors or students. No other counter-intelligence nethods were used.

## SECTION III (Operations and Training)

#### 1. Length of sources.

- a. Sesie wire course, which was given to all arlisted men, was two weeks in length. This acquainted the man with the basic principles of electricity as applied to telephone work. The principal subjects taught were --- basic electricity, basic signal communication, and basis telephone eigenits. (See Incl 2)
- b. Advenced wire course was two weeks in length. Frinciples of open wire, pole line construction, pels alimbing, and installation of portable information centers were taught. (See Incl 3)
- c. The FIC (Portable Information center) course consisted of four weeks training. The students were given the principal functions of the PIC as a part of sircraft Harming. This course involved the maintenance and repair of the equipment. (See Incl 4)
- d. The FIC course for officers was two weaks in length. This was an extentation course to acquaint officers with the imitallation and maintenance of the equipment in the field. (See and 5)
- e. Students were taught the elements of electricity of experiments that showed each principle. These experiments were made by the student. Training files, thereo, and illustrated handbooks were used to facilities teaching. Telephones were mounted on nearby to show each computent part and its runation in the circuit. Sections of the FIC were mounted on boards and connected together to function as one part. The connecting was done by the student. The student located and cleared trouble put in the equipment by his instructor. A local telephone net was installed within the department area, including all the means used in pale line construction of both field wire and open wire. Sixteen pales were set and used to teach pole climbing.
- f. The teletypewriter section operated superately from the rest of the department. This nection had a four week teletypewriter Sparator's course. The subjects stressed were speration, procedure, and international Morse Code. (See incl 6)

#### 2. Schedules.

(See Incls 2, 3, 5, 5, and 6)

#### 3. Training Aids.

a. Marmals

d. Ireining films

b. Blackboard

e. Bread Boards (Circuits)

e. Charts

1. Dissembled Equipment

t. Crew Electrical Experiment Sets

#### SECTION IV (Material and Supply)

All materials and supplies, such as office supplies and equi\_ment, and training equipment were obtained from a bettalian supply. As the department had so T/RA, all equipment was issued from battalian  $S-I_0$  on memorandum receipt.

The department maintained a supply room manned by a supply sargeant and clerk. All equipment used for training was stored in this supply room, along with the training side, maps, and charts meeded by the department.

All forms that had to be reproduced were obtained from S=3, reproduction section of the battalion. Such training aids as maps, charts, and diagrams were made by the drafting section. When repairs were necessary, the utilities section of battalion S=4 made them.

# ( pacial star f notivities)

At regular intervals the instructor person of was given special instruction in teaching authods. This involved ways and means to improve methods of instruction. And senior instructor of the capartment made checks on the instruction given by the various instructors in their respective sections.

lectures and demonstrations by the officers in the department were held to sequaint the instructors with the duties and responsibilities of a non-consissioned officer.

instructors to notify them of changes asse, or to be made, in the department at this time the instructors were allowed to discuss the program of the department and offer suggestions or criticism as the case warranted department and offer suggestions or criticism as the case warranted any good ideas and changed were advanced through these meetings and the morals of the department was of a high, standard.

## GEOTIGN VI (Diography End Summa interest)

The department was formed the latter part of lecember, 1941, and was known as the folephone and fels raph department, ITI Interceptor (command, Aircraft marning Training conter, it. sichoel chalen was department head. Three editated sen were borrowed from the 317th Signal tompany, Air sing, namely, Sgt J. C. Bullard, Opl d. B. Young, and opl S. D. Hines to help as instructors. This cade a total of one officer and three enlisted sen when the department was first formed.

The purpose of the department was to train personnel to operate switch-boards, install and repair local battury telephone nets. This included stringing field wire and pole climbing. The personnel to be trained were all infeatry which had been moved into the Aircraft marning pervice.

At the time the department was formed, no equipment was available for training so this was borrowed from signal seasoquarters and seasquarters Company, ill Interceptor Command, which was the only signal Company assigned to brew rised at that time. This equipment consisted of a few pairs of climbers, a few limesum tools, several reels of field wire, and one typewriter.

A few cays after the department was formed by John R. Dean replaced by whalen as department head with bt. Whalen remaining as assistant head of the department. The department was first set up in the area now occupied by the base commissary using one pyramical tent which served as a combination office, supply roos, and work shop. Denedules were drawn up for a two weeks course which covered local battery theory, local battery telephone circuits, switchboard operation, and pole line construction. The first class consisted of approximately fifty men. Deas tents were used for class-rooms. The school was moved three times in the immediate area before it became scammat personnelly established.

In denuary, 1912, the separtment was assigned another officer, Lt. Stuart Ogelsby, also an emissed man as typint and file clerk. This brought the total strongth of personnel to sevent three officers and four emisted man. The course was revised at this time to include common battery telephone installation and saintenance with Lt. Ogelsby in charge. The department now had three pyramical tents and two hospital ward tents, the two larger tents serving as class rooms. Classes at this time were ranging in size from fifty to one-hundred man. The Telephone and Jeleproph chool combined instruction with practical work by using the students to install a camp telephone system for the Aircraft armin, unit training center Jean-quarters.

In becomber, 1941, the teletype section was organized at temp denote with it, deorge meason in charge and it functioned as a section of the Telephone and Telegraph department. Four model mineteen machines sere obtained from the 317th dignal tompany, air sing, and 307th dignal Company, Air sing. Two model twenty-six machines were transferred from the filter center in Tamps, three mounthes were property of the well islephone by ston, and were rented to the school. This, with eighteen at 86 typewriters and two reperferator-transmitter mets, was all the equipment available when the school was started. One officer, it, beason, and but the perfect with an other enlisted men, made a total of eight personnel to operate this sention.

in heren, lynk, nors equipment was needed for instruction in common battery telephone asintenance. This was obtained from the Air turps in the form of a discarded pursuit training unit. This unit was made up of several it. b. position phones interconnected through push buttons and relays. This was used to teach installation and circuit tracing.

In April, 1982, the school was soved from tents into personent buildings in the present school area and located at the corner of F and 5th Streets. The school was assigned file buildings in order to take care of the increasing size of the classes. The emisted man personnel had increased to approximately fifteen men. The emisted man personnel had increased to approximately fifteen men. The interest of the school was being moved, bt. Dean and six emisted men were at the build laboratories in New York City studying the portable information center equipment being used by Aircraft saming. The their return one complete AS-5 unit was obtained from the 50lst Signal Regiment and Installed for the purpose of instruction, bt. John cases came into the department replacing it, modelen as assistant department head and was put in charge of the FTC course.

By May, 1962, the someol ad become very well organized. The personnel consisted of three officers and twenty five enlisted non and were doing the bulk of the instruction. The course consisted of a two weeks course in basic telephone theory which each student was required to taxe. Upon completion of this course no was sent either to a two weeks course in advanced wire training or, if his grades permitted, he was given a two weeks maintenance course in the partable information center. The non-that finished the PiC course were liven an extra two weeks training for wire which a Handbooks were made up and issued to each student to facilitate in teaching and to offer a means by which a student could learn the subjects taught wile outside the classroom.

Furing the early part of Jume, 1962; the teletype section was moved from Camp Deloto into the new second buildings located at the corner of it and ith Streets. The section had grown somewhat and more equipment was needed. This equipment was obtained from the 1303d Signal Company, Air Sing, in July. At this time the department became a part of "B" Stage, Aircraft Warning Unit Training Center.

By late August, 1912, the Telephone and Telegraph ochool had grown so rapidly that it was necessary to divide the course into sections: basic theory, field wire, advanced wire, and portable inferention center sections. Each section had an officer in charge to supervise the instructors and, from time to time, make such changes as were necessary in the schedules. In optimizing, it was remained Telephone and Telegraph separtment, if brance, Aircraft Farming Unit Training Center.

In october, 1982, it. James J. Dugan and it. George F. Beardman were assigned to the department. It. Georgian was in charge of the advanced wire section and it. Bugan was head of the might classes which were being conducted due to the increased number of students alon, with a shortage of personnel. These night classes were made up of former bell Telephone System men who needed an orientation course in the methods used by Aircraft Warning for Signal communication.

In December, 1912, Lt. mason replaced tapt. Dean as department head. The course in advanced sire was lengthened from two to four weeks and the PIC course was lengthened from four to six weeks. This gave the men more training making them more qualified as wire chiefs which was the ultimate aim of the department.

It. coardman replaced it. casen as department head in January, 1943. A short time later it. cuxbury and it. chan were assigned to duty with the department. It. Duxbury replaced it. Dugan as head of the basic theory class and it. Schou was put in charge of the advanced wire section. The school, at this time, sue very effeciently organized and was turning out approximately one hundred men every nonth. The total strength of personnel, including the teletype section was seven officers and thirty-six enlisted men.

is January, 1963, it. Gibuins replaced it. Feason as lead of the teletype section. Shortly after that thic section moves across the street into buildings linear and life-if. The classroom was located at the corner of H and ith Streets and the building immediately west served as an office, supply room, and maintenance work shop.

In Earch, 1943, Telephone and Telegraph personnel installed a communications system for the 2d Training Sattalion. FEK switcheard was installed in battalion immoquarters and telephone installations and extensions run to mann suberdinate unit.

During the month of June, 1943, all sections of the Telephone and lelegraph repartment were discontinued accept the teletype section which continued to function. Some of the instructors from the other sections of the department were retained and put on duty in the teletype section. Tols course in maintenance, three days per week to officers and enlisted men of the telephone and telegraph department, was presented by this section. Telephone and Telegraph officers from other units attended these classes also.

From June, 1963, until the present date the Telephone and Telegraph Department has trained men only in teletypwriter operation and procedure, the last class having graduated the latter part of September, 1963. In

addition to the personnel trained in teletypewriting course, the personnel of the department has maintained the communication system of the 588th Signal Aircraft Warning Dattalion.

#### 6 Incl -

Incl 1 — Table of "istribution
Incl 2 — Jaster Training Schedule — Sasic Wire Course
Incl 3 — Master Training Schedule — Advanced wire Course
Incl 4 — Master Training Schedule — FIC & Advanced
Specialist Journe
Incl 5 — Master Training Schedule — Officers FIC course
Incl 6 — Master Training Schedule — Specialist Course
Incl 6 — Master Training Schedule — Thetypewriter Course

This nistory summitted by:

FRANCIS G. BITTINGER Lat It, Big C Commanding (Unit Historical Officer)

#### MISTORICAL REPORT OF MOTOR TRANSPORT DEPARTMENT

#### SECTION I

#### 1. Original Unit.

- a. Designation. Notor Transport Department, Freliminary Operational Training Stage.
- b. Date of organization. January 9, 1943.
- 6. Place of organization. Drew Field, Tampa, Florida.
- d. Authority for organization. ID No. 11-1163-3.
- Sources of personnel. 50lst Signal Aircraft arming Regiment, and 503rd Signal Aircraft arming Regiment.
- 2. Changes in organisation. Motor Transport was organized on 29 December 1961, at Drew Field, Tampa, Florida, by Lot Lt Harry C. Echolm, assisted by Lieutenant Cooper, Hilson, and Foss.

Enlisted Personnal, amounting to approximately thirty-five (35), same from the original 1700 men from Camp Shealer, Georgia. These men all had upward of 12 weeks of Notor Transport Training when they came to us, in addition to being very carefully hand picked as to their civilian background. They ranged from heavy truck drivers, and mechanist to owners of small fleets of trucks. This background in no small amount contributed to the future success of the Notor Transport mehool.

Drew Field in December of 1941 was a "Tent City" and classes were organised and conducted in all kinds of shelter, and even out of doors. A Motor Pool was set up with a hospital ward tent as a workshop. In this crude garage well over 100 "G.I." mechanics received their training before more permanent and suitable quarters were obtained. In another similar tent at the same time a large group of potential chauffeurs were receiving their instructions in the Army way of driving and maintenance. A third group yet were being instructed in the duties of a truckmaster. The entire excellment of the first class numbered just under 200 men.

In conjunction with the school, we were doing all of the Motor Transportation for entire Signal Corps group of 1700 men. The reason for this was that we had all of the trucks. It was about April of 1942 before the newly activated units began to receive trucks of their own. Our original group of trucks were drawn from the 309th Signal AN Co. and numbered 23.

## SECTION I (CLATED)

Later 24 more were obtained from the 317th and 33lat Signal Co's.

Ath these 47 trucks we were able to do all of the mass of hauling required by a new camp, including the moving in from railroad sidings of the personnal and equipment of several more organization. This was done mostly with student drivers.

As more organisations arrived at Drew Field, our school grew in size. A building program was started, and in May or 1942 we moved to the present location on "I" Street, between 4th and 8th. Here we had a classrooms of 80 mm capacity, one of 36 and a garage, in addition to our effice in the same building as the small classroom. These soon proved inadequate. The chauffeurs class, which was of 4 weeks duration, was divided into two groups, classroom and field. After two weeks of basic instruction, chauffeur students were sent to the Darasota Air Base, where they received two weeks of intensive field training, including long convoys and a let of night driving under blackout concluding long convoys and a let of night driving under blackout conditions, much valuable training was received and many excellent military drivers were graduated. Exact figures are not available, but tary drivers were graduated. Exact figures are not available, but tarpreximately 3500 chauffeurs were trained by the school, as well as appreximately 350 mechanics and about 150 trunkmasters, totaling 4300 students graduated in about 18 months.

buring the latter part of 1942 and untill June 1943 the school was at its greatest height, Capt Harold D. Foss was Department Head. It this time the school was divided into five (5) sections, chauffeurs in this time the school was divided into five (5) sections, chauffeurs in this time the school was divided unto school was divided on the school was divided on the school was an in the classroom and two weeks of driving in field operation.

- 3. Strength, commissioned and enlisted. Enlisted Personnel, amounting to approximately thirty-five (35). Commissioned Officers consisted of five (5) 2nd Lieutenants and one (1) Captain.
- 4. Stations (permanent), Drew Field, Florida.

# (Operations and Training)

action, with Sgt Saniel B. Smith as chief instructor. Sgt Smith had section, with Sgt Saniel B. Smith as chief instructors, who did their under him approximately ten very capable instructions, who did their uttermest to give these drivers the very best instructions possible. The first week of this source was devoted mostly to giving the drivers definite instructions on filling out trip tickets correctly and filling out accident reports, also quite a bit of time was devoted to the noman-clature and characteristics of all government vehicles. During this first week their training sides were used, such as diagrams showing the nomanclature of vehicles, similated accidents.

#### SECTION ITT (CONTED)

The second week of the classroom work was primarily devoted to first echelen maintenance and the duties of the driver. First echelen maintenance was taught by having the students actually do this work themselves in the motor pool. It was found in all cases that if the student did this work himself he would be less likely to forget how it was supposed to be done.

The second two weeks of the chauffeurs class was devoted primarily to driving and field operations. This phase of the course was under the direction of it felix J. Brane, with Ogt Baymond V. Laffey as his chief instructor. Ogt Laffey was ably assisted by approximately ten instructors. These instructors were divided into groups of two's and had ten trucks and approximately 50 students in each group, while the students received instruction in driving they were also given regid training in field operation, which included putting 6 % 6 CMC 2½ ton trucks through creeks and streams, and also cross country driving. These drivers were given approximately 15 hours of blackout driving over hard surfaced roads, narrow country roads, and also blackout cross country driving. After successfully completing these four weeks of training and passing the necessary examinations the students were issued drivers license.

it Maloolm M. MoMaghten was in charge of the mechanics course with Sgt Laurence S. Hersh as his chief instructor. In this course the students received six weeks of intensive training in every phase of 2nd echelon meintenance and touched on the high point of 3rd echelon maintenance. These classes were carried on in a large shop which was equipped with one ford four cylinder 1/4 ton C & R vehicle motor, one six cylinder lestoy engine, two six cylinder and engines, and also all the parts of a generator, starter and many other parts of a vehicle mounted on boards in order that the student might acquaint himself thoroughly with these pieces of machinery. Approximately two weeks of this six weeks sourse were spent with the students actually replacing and repacking wheel bearings, I joints, and performing the second schelon maintenance on approximately one hundred vehicles; This inclusted making all the inspections that are made by the second echelon shops. After successfully completing the necessary training and passing the examinations, these students were classified as automotive aechanics.

Lt Harold D. Skipper was in charge of the truckmasters class, and had as his chief instructor, Sgt Joseph waits. Sgt aits had Sgt Belisle as his assistant. These truckmasters classes were practically always a very small group of men, averaging about twenty students to the class. The truckmaster, being the non-commissioned officer in charge of the motor pool, had to be taught all the phases of motor pool operations; therefore, too much time could not be devoted to any one subject. This source was for four weeks duration and during this time the students were taught: mechanics, and also duties of the motor pool personnel.

#### EMECTION IT (Material and Supply)

In Jamery 1943, we had approximately one-hundred (100) vehicles in this motor peol, we kept the majority of these vehicles untill July 1943, when the school was disbanded, then our quota dropped to about twenty-five vehicles.

# (Biography and Ruman Interest)

On Movember 2, 1943, this motor pool received six (6) WAC'S, and they have been performing duties as mechanics and truck drivers aince they arrived in this pool, they also have gone out on several Convoys, and they seem to be very interested in learning how to drive trucks and work on trucks as mechanics, within the past three weeks improvement in their work have been noticed, and they are carrying out orders faithfully.

Information on the following sections is un-available.

(Intelligence)

(Special Staff Activities)

#### ADMINISTRATION DEPARTMENT Preliminary Operational Training 568th Signal AW Battalion Drew Field

Tampa, Florida 25 October 1943

#### UNIT HISTORY

#### SECTION I (Personnel and Administrative)

### 1. Original Unit.

- a. The designation of the original unit was the "Administration Department, Preliminary Operational Training, Signal Aircraft Marning Unit Training "B" Stage".
  - b. The date of organisation was 9 January 1943.
  - c. The place of organisation was at Brew Field, Tampa, Florida.
- d. The authority for organisation was the Table of Distribution Number 11-1163-1, Har Department, Headquarters, Army Air Forces, Washington, January 9, 1943. (See Incl. #1)
- e. Sources of personnel for the department were from the students of the department, members of other units on the post, and men with civilian experience as instructors. Nost of the personnel were attached to the department for special duty and assigned to holding companies. All of the prospective instructors were interviewed by the older instructors and by the officers in charge. Clerical personnel for the department were also from the students who did have civilian elerical experience.

#### 2. Changes in Organisation.

Changes in the designation of the unit were as follows:

December, 19kl, the unit was formed and was known as the "Administration Department, livereft Warming Service Training Center, III Interceptor Command. Local authority for organisation was granted through the Signal Officer, III Interceptor Command, to form an Aircraft Warming School for the purpose of forming a regiment, a battalion, and two frentier companies. This was to be known as a garrison school. Approximately, 1700 men were transferred to this field from Comp Wheeler, Macon, Georgia, to form these units. At this time, instructors were taken from the 503rd Signal Aircraft Warming Regiment and from the 553rd Signal Aircraft Warming Regiment and from the 553rd Signal Aircraft Warming Bediment and from the 553rd Signal Aircraft Warming Bediment and from the 553rd Signal Aircraft Warming Hattalion (Separate). These men were placed on special duty with the department.

In April, 1942, new instructors were obtained from the Solst Signal Aircraft Warning Regiment to be on special duty with the department.

In July, 1942, the name was changed to "Administration Department" Stage, Aircraft Warning Service Unit Training Center".

In September, 1942, the designation became "Administration Depart-

ment "F" Stage, Aircraft Warning Unit Training Center".

In January, 19h3, a Table Of Distribution was approved by the Mar Department and the authorized designation of the department became the "Administration Department, Preliminary Operational Training, Signal Aireraft Marning Unit Training "B" Stage".

In May, 1913, the school adopted the name "Administration Department "S" Stage, 2d Signal Aircraft Warming Training Battalion (Preliminary

Operational Training)".

In August, 1943, the new name of "Administration Department, Preliminary Operational Training, 586th Signal Aircraft Warning Sattalion"

was given to the school.

At the opening of the school there were four instructors. As the school grew, many new instructors were added to the department. Until, July, 19k3, the school had approximately hO instructors. Later, in August, 19k3, most of the instructor personnel were transferred into other units which were being activated. Several of the remaining men were put to work in other departments of this battalion.

#### 3. Strength, Commissioned and Enlisted.

	Officers	Enlisted Hen
December, 1941	2	7
November, 1942 February, 1943	3	70 311
March. 1943	7	1.3
April, 19h3 May, 19h3	ž	39
August, 1943 September, 1943	2	15

## 4. Stations (permanent or temporary) of unit or parts thereof.

The unit was formed at Drew Field, Tampa, Florida on 29 December 1941. This station has been a personnet one for the department.

### 5. Photographs of Personnel, important scenes, or events.

Photographs of the instructor, clerical, and officer personnel are attached. Some of the pictures show the school area and student personnel.

#### SLCTION II (Intelligence)

A course of instruction was given to enlisted sen and officers on "Safeguarding Hilitary Information" in the various sections of the department. The "Message Center" section taught counter-intelligence measures and censorship. In the course of "Cryptography", such of the data compiled from experiences of men from overseas was included as the course progressed. Importance was laid on the necessities of encoding messages more often than heretofore used in combat. New devices were introduced and old devices discarded. Prior to the suspension of these courses, periodic lectures on "Safeguarding Hiltary Information" were introduced in this battalion. Lectures were carried on concerning enemy intelligence activity based upon reports captured from the Italian intelligence in the African campaign. (References - War Department Training Circulars by and 99, 1952.)

#### SECTION III (Operations and Training)

## 1. Length of Courses.

Classes for emliated sen were held from 0800 until 1120 and from 1300 until 1620, six days a week for four weeks in the courses of Company Administration, Company Supply, and Hescage Center. A two week course in Typing was also instituted. One cycle of night classes was held in Company Administration and Company Supply, and for a short period of time night classes were held for instruction in typing.

Officers classes were held at intermittent times and the courses varied in length from two days to two weeks. The hours were usually the same as those of the emlisted men's classes but they were also designated from time to time according to the number of subjects that had to be taught.

#### 2. Training Aids.

fraining aids in the forms of charts, memmals, handbooks, blackbeards, films, standard forms or reproduced faceimiles, bucklets, maps, and other such materials were used. All of these were obtained through battalion headquarters.

Measures were also taken to train the instructors in the proper methods of instruction. A special course of instruction was given by the senior instructor and by the department officers. In this course of instruction were classes in Basis Procedure for Instruction, Fundamental Principles of Instruction, The Lecture Method, Training of Signal Corps Personnel, Questioning, and Training Course for Instructors. All of these were published in pemphlete as the instructor's guide. (See Incls. 2, 3, 4, 5, 6.).

## 3. Scope and Nature of Training Activities.

- a. In the Company Administration section, classes were held to train men as personnel clarks (368) and company clarks (055). Some of the principal subjects taught were Morning Reports, Service Records, Military Correspondence, Pay of Enlisted Men, Daily Sick Report, and Duty Roster.
- b. In the Company Supply section men were trained for work in supply specialties, such as supply elerks (835). Some of the principal subjects covered were Prescribed Quantities of Supply, Requisitions, Company Property Book, Allowance of Expendables, Shipping Tickets, Hemorandum Receipts, Training Funds, Signal Corps Catalog, Property Adjustment, Controlled Items Report, and Military Correspondence.
- e. In the Message Center section training was given to the students to fill positions as counter elerks (Message Center Chief) (67h), assistant counter elerks (67h), message center clark (055), and messengers (675).

Some of the principal subjects taught were Development of Message Center, Message Center Team, Operational Subjects, Message Handling Procedure, Interior Handling, Cryptography, Agencies of Signal Communication, Maps and Map Reading, Operation of Message Center, and Lectures on Safe-guarding Military Information.

- d. In the Typing section special training and practice was given to students to better qualify them as typist elerks (405). This was a two week source and was open to all eligible graduates from the other sections of the department. The touch system was taught with the aid of charts and personal instruction. In the second week of the course, practice was given in the preparation of military correspondence.
- e. There were also special sources for differs in Company Administration, Company Supply, Message Center and Cryptography. These were known as "Orientation or Specialist Classes". The purposes of these cources were to better acquaint the officers with the duties and responsibilities of a company communier, to acquaint them with the proper rules and regulations on Safeguarding Military Information, and for generally acquainting them with ourrent administrative changes.
- f. The recording of grades, the preparation of various reports to battalion headquarters, the preparation of schedules, and the general office work for the department was done by the personnel section of this week.
- g. The average number of student hours for each of the enlisted men's courses are shown on the Master Training Schedules that are attached. (See Incls.  $7_3$  8, 9.).

## SECTION IV

#### 1. Sources of Supplies and Equipment.

All materials and supplies, such as stationary, office supplies, office equipment, and training equipment were obtained through S—is at Battalion Headquarters.

The department maintained a supply room manual by a supply man and a supply elect. All stendard forms or reproduced facaimiles were were stored in this supply room with many training manuals, handbooks, maps, charts, all forms frequently used for training, and cleaning materials.

#### 2. Procuring Training Aide.

All of the forms that had to be reproduced were obtained from S-3, Reproduction Section, of the battalion. Such training aids as charts, blackboards, and maps were made by the Drafting Crew or by the Utilities Section. When repairs were necessary, the Utilities Section made them.

#### SECTION V (Special Staff Activities)

## 1. Instructor Training.

It was frequent that the staff of instructors was given special courses in "teaching methods". The senior instructor of the department made checks on the instruction given by the various instructors.

Lectures and demonstrations by the officers in the department were held to better acquaint the men as instructors with the duties and responsibilities of a non-constitutional officer. "Leadership" was developed by the instructors through the special drill classes that were supervised by the officers in charge.

During the periods when there were no regular classes in the Administration Section or any of the other sections, the instructors were taught the fundamentals concerning a good non-consissioned officer. (See Incl. 10).

#### 2. Inspections.

Inspections of classrooms were made frequently by proximent of vilians, by high ranking military pursonnel, by the department head, and by the officers in charge of each section.

## 3. Routine Staff Activities.

At intermittent times, the department head would call a meeting of all of the instructors to notify them of any changes in the organisation. At these meetings the instructors would be permitted to discuss the program of the department and to offer any sunstructive criticismilarly fine changes resulted and the morals of the department was of a high standard.

#### SECTION VI (Riography and Husta Interest)

The original unit personnel consisted of two officers, namely, Capt. Ralph O. Housen, the Department Head, and 1st Lt. Walter G. Meisenheimer, Assistant Department Head. Pvt. Joseph E. Green was the senior instructor in the course of "Company Administration and Supply".

The clauses were held out of doors in the vicinity of the warehouses located west of Tenth Street and south of J Street (Temps Hay Boulevard). Within a week hespital tents were provided for classrooms. Mres Hall tables were used for deaks and improvised blackboards were made. There was one class and the course consisted of Company Administration with a brief amount of instruction in Company Supply. The length of this course was eight weeks and its objective was to train men to fill office and personnel clark positions.

In February, 1912, the course was changed to a six week period. The department acquired five new minterised tents. At this time the school was divided into three sections which were:

(1) one section for Company Administration, (2) one section for Company Supply, and

(3) one section for Mess Management. The smallest of these new buildings was used for the Department Headquarters, and the remainder of the buildings were used for classrooms.

In March, 1942, a two week course was introduced and was known as a "Cadre Course" The purpose of this course was to train men in work applicable to times positions, namely, first sergeancies, supply sergeancies, and mess sergeancies. Let Lt. Mack C. Jay, Jr. assumed command and lat Lt. Morris T. Reeves was appointed Assistant Department listd.

In April, 1942, the schools were moved to a new area located at the northwest corner of 4th and F Streets. New wooden buildings were erected, furnished with individual desks, benches, and sliding blackboards. The capacity of each classroom was sixty. The personnel at the time consisted of: 8 Sgt Joseph E. Green, senior instructor; S Sgt Joseph E. Daily, section chief of the Company Administration section; S Sgt Jason O. Williams, section chief of the Company Supply section. The courses now consisted of Company Administration pany Supply for a period of four weeks. Mess hausgement section was suspended. The average number of daily student attendance at this time was about 120 enlisted men.

In June, 1942, a "Message Center" school was formed to prowide training in message center work and cryptography. Cpl. William M. Plinn was appointed section chief of this new section.

in July, 1942, the department was assigned a new name - "Administration Department "3" Stage, Aircraft Marning Service Unit Training Center". 1st Lt. Horris T. Reeves assumed command.

ourse was instituted. All sligible graduates from the other sections of the department attended this course in order to acquaint them with the touch system of typing.

In September, 1942, the name of the department was again changed and the new name was "Administration Department "is" Stage, Aircraft Warming Unit Training Center".

In October, 1942, Orientation and Specialist Courses were introduced for the instruction of officers. Might classes were held for enlisted men for one cycle of four weeks. The average daily student attendance was approximately 400 at this time.

In January, 1943, 2d Lt. Oliver S. Jackson assumed command of the department. New buildings were acquired and the department now had a total on hand of nine buildings. There were classes for enlisted men in Company Administration, Company Supply, Message Center, and Typing. S Sgt Wade A. Wybrents was appointed senior instructor, S Sgt Leon Siegel was appointed sention chief of the Company Administration section, S Sgt Jason O. Milliams was section chief of the Company Supply section, and S Sgt Milliam H. Flinn was section chief of the Message Center section. The daily average attendance had dropped off to 250 students.

In April, 1963, temporary occasion of training except for day and night classes in typing took place. Intensive training was given to the instructors in the department. Officers' classes were held at intermittent times. The Message Center course was suspended and was later climinated.

In May, 1943, the name of the department was changed to "Administration Department "B" Stage, 2d Signal Aircraft Warning Training datalion." 2d Lt. Francis G. Bittinger assumed command of the department at this time. The school now had an average daily attendance of approximately 100 students.

In July, 1943, all classes were suspended except typing classes. Many of the instructor personnel were transferred out to different exganisations and seme left the poet. This came about in the latter part of July and at that time there were approximately 40 instructors on duty in the department. Some of the buildings were turned over to the other departments and there remained four buildings within the supervision of the department.

In August, 1943, the name of the school became "Administration Department, 586th Signal Aircraft Warning Sattalion". T Sgt Leon Siegal was appointed senior instructor and remained as section chief of the Company Administration section. T/k Robert G. Martin was appointed section chief of the Company Supply section. The typing course was dropped in the early part of the month and Company Supply was to be the only regular course in the department. Later in August, 1943, the Supply Section continued instruction and operated for a period of five weeks, and then a general transfer of students came about. The school was again suspended.

#### 10 Inel -

Incl 1—Table of Distribution
Incl 2—Easis Procedure for Instruction
Incl 3—The Lecture Method
Incl 3—The Lecture Method
(Reprint of Extracts)
Incl 5—Lecture Method
(Reprint of Extracts)
Incl 5—Lecturing Course for Instructors
Incl 6—Training Course for Instructors
Incl 8—Lecture Training Schedule — to Apply
Incl 9—Lecture Training Schedule — to Apply
Incl 9—Lecture Training Schedule — to Spring Course
Incl 10—L Onice for all hom-considerioned Officers

•.

This history submitted by:

PRANCIS G. BIT INCHE lat Lt, Sig C Commanding (Unit distorical Officer)

#### ANCIPION I

## Personnel and Administrative

- 1. Designation 588th Signal AW Battalion.
  - (a) Date of organisation

3 my 1943

(b) Place of organisation Brow Field, Temps, Florida (c) Anthority of organisation For 1, General Orders 33, Headquarters Army Air Bess, Drow Field, Temps, Florida.

(d) Sources of personnel

Ondro furnished by the Aircraft Worming But Training Conter.

- 2. Changes in Organisation.
- (a) The 588th Signal AN Buttalies was organized under the 4th Signal AN Training Entialies and on 17 July 1943 was attached to the 5th Signal AN Training Buttalion.
  - (1) At approximately this time it was decided to provide another mission for the 2nd Signal AV Training Battalion and to use the 588th Battalian to perform the original function of the 2nd Signal AN Training Battalian; namely, housing the staff and instructor personnel of the schools. With that objective in mind, all the original personnel of the 588th (except for a small cadre) were transferred to other units within the Aircraft Marring Smit Training Conter, and by sath-ority per 21, Special Orders 179, dated 22 July 1943, Backguarters Aircraft Marming Unit Training Conter, (See Exhibit X) the 508th Signal AN Battalien was relieved from attachment to the 5th Signal AN Praining Battalien and attached to 2nd Signal AW Praining Battalien The officer and instructor personnel (except for the Commanding Officer, five (5) Company Commanders and five (5) First Sorgente; these officers and enlisted non were retained only to have the compenses within the Bettelies on an active basis until the new personnel for the 2nd Signal AF Praining Sattalion could be transferred) of the 2nd Signal AN Training Battalion were transferred into the 500th Signal AV Battalion.
  - (2) The 500th Signal AW Battalium was attached to the lot Signal AW Praining Battalies per Paragraph 23, Special Orders 219, dated 31 inquet 19k), Headquarters Aircraft Walming Unit Training Comter.
  - (b) Changes in Counseld.
    - let Lt. Joseph F. Fitsgerald assumed commend by Esttalian General Order 1, dated 3 May 1943.
    - Major George G. Green assumed command by Battalian General Green 2, dated 31 May 1943.
    - Captain Ray (Mit) Astle assumed command by Battalies Consral Green &, peragraph 1, dated 22 my 19kJ.
    - Major Andrew Risner secuned command by Buttalion Conseal Order 7,
    - dated 20 July 1963. (See Exhibit XI) 14. Gol. Halph P. Stichl account command by muned command by Battalian General Order 8. dated 13 August 1963. (See Buildis XX

- 3. Strongth, Commissioned and Emlisted.
  - a. Ondre strangth 8 officers

86 enliated men

b. Authorised strength
&S Officers 1h Warrent Officers 905 enlisted man

For authority per 12, Special Orders 199, dated 11 August 1963, Hendquarters Aircraft Warning Unit Training Conter . (Edibit XIV) The departments Preliminary Operational Training Stage were attached to the 586th Signal AW Enthalies for command. The authorised strongth for those departments is:

33 Officers All enlisted men

- k. Stations.
  - (a) Drew Field, Tampa, Florida.
- 5. Missions.
- (a) Originally the 588th Signal AW Battalion was organised to function as an Aircraft Warning Battalion in the field. Prior to the attachment of the 588th Battalion to 2nd Signal AW Training Battalion, all the personnel of the 588th were transferred to other units within AWUTC and upon attachment to the 2nd Signal AW Training Battalion, the 2nd Signal AW Training Battalion personnel was transferred into the 588th and a new mission was given the 588th; memaly, functioning as a school battalion for the instruction and training of enlisted mem in the specialties of Aircraft Warning in order that they may adoptedly perform dation assigned them in an Aircraft Warning Unit.
- 6. Ten (10) photographs of personnel attached.
- 7. List of records on file in this Meadquarters.

000	General
006	Helidaya
018	Temation, Tariff, and exception form.
OLS	Army Beergency Relief Loans
014.32	Maturalisation
070	Ingurance
016	Decisions and Opinions
100	Pinance and Accounting
120.1	Expenditure or Payment of funds
123	
	Funds, Money and Savings
141.8	Reports of Survey
200	Personnel
200.2	Identification, Methods and Systems
200.5	Aceldents
200.6	Remards, Badges, Decerations (Good Conduct)
201	Personal Records
201.22	Commendations
201.5	Physical Examinations and Tests
201.36	
210	Counterioned and Warrant Officers
210.01	Classification of Officer

```
270.2
            Premotion of Officer
           Assignment of Officer
Transfer of Officer
 210.31
210.33
            Special Service Office
 210-71
            Agents (Agent Officer)
            Officer of the Day (Duty Tours and Status)
 210.45
           Special Duty (0)
Enlisted non and Aviation Codets
 210.15
 220
 220.01
            Clausification of Balisted Mass
           Warrants, (Application, Asseptance, Declination)
Promotion of Enlisted man
 220.14
220.2
220.26
           Reductions
220.3
           Assignment, Attuckment (SK)
220.33
220.45
           Trensfer
           Daty Tours and Status (EM)
220. Ü
           Army Specialised Training Progre
           ANOL (M)
220.712
220.8
           Discharges (M)
Titles and Oredes (SMIs)
221
230
           Civilian Personnel
21,2 Pw (121)
21,6.4, 21,6.6, 21,6.7
212
                          Allowness and Rations (EM)
250.1
           Consinct and Morals
250.3
           Punishment
250.h
           Courts Martial
300
           Administration
300.4
           Orders
ш.и,
        311.3, 311.5
                          Code, Telephone, Telegrams
311 & 312
312.1
            Mail and Correspondence
           Correspondence (Classes, Receipts)
312.2
           Message File
313
           Records
           TA of Becombe
313.3
314.7
           Military Ristories (Units of AWUTC)
119.1
           Reports (Periodical)
330.31
           Strength Roturns (Restors)
320
           Organisation of Army
122
           Organisations and Tastical Units
330.32
           Rosters
           Miseellaneous
           Monthly Roster of Officers
           Station Lists
     3.
           COs of AWUTG Organizations)
     h.
           G Reported to AWUTG
           Telephone numbers of Officers
331.1
          Post Libraries (Overdue Books)
331.4
           Moos Genditions
333
334
335.11
           Inspections
           Beards, Commissions, Committees
           Official and Military Courtesies (Visiting Dignitaries)
335.2
           Caremonies (Reviews, Parades, etc.)
337
           Mostings of Officers
352
          Army Service School
          Aviation Codet
          Officer Condidate School
```

```
352.17
                 Suggested Officers Grientation
Training (Subdivided by Subject)
Training Program, Schodules and Directives
Special Service Program (Physical Pitmess)
20. a
353.8
353.8
370.5
                 brille and Burreles
  53.8 Atheleties and Associates
70.5 Sevenues (Seports of Asrival or Departure)
80.00, 380.05, 329.27 Sefengarding Military Information
                 Supplies, Services and Hysign
Dechenges, Mri mante
100
                         unges, Stipments and Transfer of Squipment
and for Supplies
J00.22
100.312
100.315
                 Allowness to organizations (Orystal Regulations)
Table of Allowness
LOD. NO
                          of Allowances
uption or Reponditure (Querterly Dropping Allowances)
sing Rysipment (plantic unterial)
100.36
h00.36 Communication (plantic natural)
h10.3 Flotting Rysipsont
h13.5k Radio Equipment
h13.52, h13.53 Printing and Daplication Machines and equipment (Photo-
graphic Machines and equipments)
                 Reder Equipment
Clothing and Equipm
Vokiales and Ports
W3.77
120
 isi
                  Vehicles Miscellaneous (Vehicle Density Report)
Tractors and trailers (Caterpiller type) Ports and Association)
 151.7
 K.N
 M
                  Publications
                  Signal Corps Property
Transportation
 L75.7
                  Determine And
 (0)
                 Balldings and Green
Inspection of Area
 600.171
                  Balldings and Drounds (Altering, enlarging, etc.)
Observation and Reports (Eldge and Grounds ) Wookly Heaning Report
 600.L
 600.91
                  Housing of Person
Tolophone System
Wireless System
 601
676.1
 46.3
 676.5
                  Public Addres - Symbon
                   Medicine, Mygivae, and Sanitation
 700
                  Doctal Treatment
Scopitalization
 703
 705
 721.5
                  Sanitary Reports
                  Reports ( Included are fellowing:)
Special School Reports
 719.1
                       By. Third Air Force Compatings School 936 Engineers Ave Com Bn,
                        Halterboro, S. C.
                  Range Firing Report
Report on Specialists Trained at ANUTS
Heathly Report of Chaplains
                  Military Personnal Reid for Theatres of Opins Chemical Restore
Typining Report
Report on Nor Book Perticipation
```

1. Student flow chart

. Absence from class's

<sup>2.</sup> Weekly Status Report

i. Bossipt for Absentes Reports Card file for Droppage of student Graduates of student

#### SECRICE III

# Operation and Training

## ROUTINE OPERATIONS

The training conducted by the 550th Signal AW Battalion prior to attachment to the 2nd Signal AW Training Battalion, consisted of enrolling enlisted men in the Specialist School and carrying on an active inter Battalion athletic program. Upon transfer to the 2nd Signal AW Training Battalion, the 525th assumed the training functions conducted by the 2nd Signal AW Training Battalies; namely, supervising the operations of the schools. (See Section III of Appendix I, ES, III, IV, V, VI, for courses operating, methods and procedures used.)

Under the supervision of the S-3 Section on instructors' training school began functioning on 16 July 1961. The purpose of this school is to train potential instructors to replace the losses that occur through sidmess, transfers, furlough. This section also maintains refresher training for instructors already qualified. Instruction in the individual departments is supervised by the Instructor Training Section, and improvements in instruction methods are constantly being made.

### SECTION IV

The 588th Signal AW Buttalion encountered no unusual difficulty-with supplies after activation. When the personnel of the former 2nd Training Battalian was transferred into the 588th Battalian, all the school equipment was also transferred into the 588th. Because the 588th Signal AW Battalian might resume its status as a tactical field unit at any time, all of the Battalian equipment (with the exception of a small amount of office equipment) is stored in a separate warehouse to be held in absymme until the 588th takes to the field.

School Headquarters is established in the former home of the Drew family; the house has been converted to a military office without changing the structure. This fine office combined with the specieus grounds make it the envy of many other headquarters located on Drew Field.

The  $S^{-1}_{\nu}$  Section has submitted plans and has supervised the buildings used by the Battelien, which consists of appreximately 60.

### SECTION V

The staff of the 588th Battalien is divided into the fallowing sections; Commanding Officer, Emoutive Officer, Adjutant, S-1, S-2, S-3, S-4, Assistant Adjutant. The unusual activity (in relation to other Battalians) is induced by the fact that there are two personnel sections, one for the handling of Students and the other is the nermal unit personnel section.

All of the staff activity with the exception of Unit Personnel is directed to the supervision and scordination of the activities of the various departments under this command.

The departments are attached to a specific company in this Battalian for administration, quarters, and rations.

The duties of the ericinal staff are shown as Bubibit IV.

REFAUE to the history of the Departments, Preliminary Operational Training stage. Appendimes I, II, III, IV, V, and VI.

Technically, the Departments are a separate unit under the Preliminary Operational Training Stage; however, they are dependent upon a parent organisation for command and administration. Since they are an integral part of the perent unit, (\$38th Signal AN Juttalian) their histories are inclosed as Appeardixes I-VI.

The Departments have been operating basically the same since December 1961; however, the function of the idministration, Telephone & Telegraph, and Motor Transport Departments have naturally fallow off during the past two (2) manths as shown hereon and in Appendixes IV, V, VI:

The facilities of the Administration Department have been devoted principally to refresher training and teaching supply courses.

The Telephone and Telegreph Department maintains the Buttalies communication system and frequently farmishes "trouble shoeters" to repair or install new commutanties systems for other handquarters. Teaching of the department is devoted to Teletype Instruction.

The Motor Transport Department new furnishes transportation for the Battelion and maintenance for the special purpose vehicles in the Radar Department.

In order to charify the activities of the schools as a miole, the following has been propured: It is a general history and must be supplemented by all the Appendixes and Exhibits.

## ORGANIZATION

On 1h December 19k1 approximately 1700 enlisted men arrived from Camp theolar, Georgia, for the purpose of training in hir Marning Service and to make-Aly form an Aircraft Harming Regiment, Bettalion and two frontier economies ("whilit 1). The newly arrived enlisted men had received 13 weeks of basis Infantry training but not any instruction in Aircraft Tarning. Several testical outfite (5) Web Signal AN Occupany, 317th, 331st, 307th Signal AN Occupanies) were also brought to Drew Field. In order to train these calisted man, a garrison school was set up which included the following sections: (See Exhibit II)

- 1. Redio \*A\*
- 2. Ridio "B" (later changed to Derug, them to Rader; this school started eperating approximately three (3) weeks later than the others.)
- 3. Aircraft surning Service School (later shanged to Information Conter Desertment. )
- 4. Telephone and Telegraph School.
  5. Message Conter School (operated one nyele and was consolidated with the Auximistration School).
  - 6. ideinistration School.
  - 7. Notor Transport School.

The above schools have continued to operate as specified, being supplemented by the Electrical Fundamentals Department and the V.H.F. Department for a short period.

During the initial period the schools were known as the Carrison School, AND 3rd Interceptor Command. (See Exhibit III) Later the name was changed to:

1. Air Warning Service Training Center-(See Exhibit IV)

2. "B" Stage AWUTG -(See Exhibit V)

3. 2nd Signal AW Training Battalion (this was the perent organisation; all of the departments were placed in the Preliminary Operational Training Stage). (Exhibit VI)

i. 988th Signal AW Bettalion( this was also the parent organisation).
(Exhibit VII)

For obvious reasons it is desirable to have all the personnel connected with the school assigned to one organisation. Constant efforts were made to accomplish this and on the 23rd of January we were given the Reporting Battalion of the 501st Signal AW Regiment. At this time we were directed that the students in the specialist' school would be our responsibility as to administration, quarters, and rations. To most this directive, 17 detachments were put into operation. This plan did not work as well as was expected and was abolished after approximately six (6) weeks eperation.

### II. SOURCES OF PERSONNEL.

Instructor personnel for the schools were obtained from the tactical units on Drew Field, from the 1700 Comp Wheeler men and later, instructors for Radar Equipment, officer and enlisted, arrived from Ft. Monageath, N. J.- (Exhibit II & III)

As the school grew and other units arrived on the field, instructors were obtained from the best students in the class. All of the personnel, officer and enlisted, connected with the school were assigned to tastical units and placed on Special Duty to the individual schools.

General Order #12; Hqs. ANUTC, (See Exhibit XIII) announced the Table of Distribution of the 2nd Signal AN Training Battalien and attached the departments Preliminary Operational Training Stage to it. These two T/Ds were not adequate to take care of the number of efficers and enlisted men working in the schools and the ratings were not appropriate. In order to overcome this difficulty the 2nd Signal AN Training Battalian was allowed to keep the Reporting Battalian of the 500st Signal AN Regiment. This arrangement centimed until the 588th Signal AN Battalian was made available and the 2nd Signal AN Training Battalian and Preliminary Operational Training Stage personnel were moved into it.

Due to the fact that the departments are not organized to handle the administrative details of normal separate units, each department is attached to a particular company of the 588th mattalian for administration, quarters, and rations.

III. STREETH

January 1942 Officers Enlisted Non. 57 161 September 1943 71 923

optombor 1943 71 whilet VIII

Mercing Reports of Organization-Document unavailable for submission.

See Exhibit IX for directive as to facilities to be maintained for the acheals.

### IV. ROUIPMENT.

Equipment for the schools originally was drawn from the tastical unite located on Draw Field-Signal Headquarters and Headquarters Company, Third Interceptor Command, 53Ord Signal AW Company, 317th, 33let, 309th Signal AWs. Companies. A large amount of equipment and training side was improvised.

Originally classrooms consisted of tents, some of which were berrowed from a circus located in Saracota, Florida, with mose tables for deals. In April 1948, buildings constructed according to each Department's requirements were completed and the schools moved to the new area within 72 hours. Since that date fifteen buildings have been constructed.

## SECTION VI

## Original Key Personnel connected with School Headquarters

Major Benjamin Stern (now Celonel)

Captain Stanley Smith

Li. Leon Estmand (now Major)

Li. Frenk Herrellee (now Major)

Lt. Esserson Hostwick (now Captain)

Signal Officer, Third Fighter Command
School Director

Assistant School Director

S-1

S-3

Lt. Esserson Hostwick (now Captain)

S-4

Assistant S-1

The Commanding Officers of Bohool Headquarters since the inception are:

Capt. Stanley Smith
Lt. Frank Herrelko
Capt. Stephen Dier
Lt. Colonel Henry Floyd
Major J. W. Gedfrey
Lt. Colonel Ralph F. Stighl

Key Personnel of School Headquarters as of 1 September 1943.

Lt. Colonel Ralph P. Stiehl Commending Officer
Najor J. W. Godfrey 8-3
Captain F. R. Delmay Assistant 8-3
Captain George F. Beardson S-1
Lst Lt. Oscar Bragnam S-1
Lst Lt. Oliver B. Jackson Adjutant
Assistant Adjutant

Visite by Meted Persons.

Lt. John R. Henderson

April 1948 IA. Gen. B. Somervell, Major General Dannen Ginetead, and Brigadier General Clarence R. Bocker. August 1942 Brigadier General Pairchild, Col. Soville, Col.

## Tourtellot, Col. Sterm, Col. Keyster, and Col. Cody.

Major Charles - SCRTG Comp Orosder—conducted by Major Fleyd.
Major Fell - Office Chief Signal, inspected Radar Department.
Colonel Brock - 0-2 Section, Army Air Ferces, 13 Movember 1942.
Dre. Horton and Bushtoldt - Operational Research Division.
Jammary 1943 - Major Fost of Comercal Sevelice Office inspection area.
Angust 1943 - Major Teneral Harry C. Inglos.

## SECTION II

# Intellicence

On the 1i August 19iL, it. Nameth E. Patterson was appointed 3-2 for the 580th Signal AV Battalion, prior to that date the 6-2 Section for the schools and departments had been supervised by the Adjutant as an additional daty.

An up-to-date card file system and personal history forms are maintained for every number of the kuttalian. Legalty Investigations are conducted for those whose duties require them to handle classified material.

In September 1943, kiruraft kerning Unit Training denter directed that all Unit Intelligence officers would ferward intelligence clearances to 8-2 this Battalion for all enlisted men attending Radar School.

# IMDOX AND DECREPTION OF EXHIBITS

- Training program for either eight (8) or thirteen (13) weeks. This document is apparently still in draft form and the writer has been unable to secure information as to whether it was ever published or not; however, the actual training did progress along the lines as outlined in most instances. The document is inclosed for information only.
  - 2 Letter from assistant Director of Training to Commanding Officer, army air Sase, ore. Field, regarding the organization and purpose of the alb Training Service behood. This includes the Staff Organization, Training surpose of anoth Sensol Repartments, roster of Officer on S/D to schools.
  - 3 behool paractive #1 Ex lamation of administrative procedure for officers and EM on S/D to schools.
  - is letter from assistant director of Training to all Department Heads outlining duties of Staff Assistant of School Headquarters.
  - 5 membrandum from handquarters, "o" Stude, to all departments in regard to inspections of classrooms for emproving instruction.
  - o memorandum 150-2, mendquartura 2nd bashan in inainang satbalism, regarding correspondence, busha levter and induraciant heading.
  - 7 Memorandum 75-21, headquerters pooth of mai an Sattorion, showing name of Battorion.
  - 6 Roster showing strength of behoof neutricities and various departments as of 11 February 1962.
  - 9 letter from Readquarters aircraft marning built Training Center to Director of individual Training, in regard to facilities to be maintained by the schools of End Signal at Training Lattalian. This buttimes courses, length and production, per month.
  - 10 Special Orders #179, Headquarters Aircraft Garding Unit Training Center, relieves 558th Ghr from attachment to 5th Signal An Training Battalion and attaches it to 2nd Signal An Training Sattalion.
  - 11 General Order #7, Headquarters 50cts Signal at outtalion. assumption of command by Major andrew Minner.
  - 12 Seneral Order #8, Headquarters 5.88th Signal at Sattalion. Assumption of command by Lt Col Raigh P Strend.
  - 13 General Order #12 Organization of Aircraft barning Unit Training Genter.

- himsiT in Special Orders #199, and quarters aircraft farming Unit Training Center, relieves department from attachment to 2nd Signal at Training Sattalion and attaches them to 300th mattalian for colland and administration.
  - 15 Letter from assistant birector of Training to signal officer, Third interceptor command requesting supplies and instructors.
  - 16 Semorandum from Colonel Lawrence to Major Stern in regard to the member of conducting the Third Interceptor Consider, and School.
  - 17 Tentative outline for Third interce; for Colmand All Training School.

    This is inclosed for information only. The date on which it was prepared is unavailable, on a information as to whether this outline was used or not is likewise unavailable. However, the outline for the officers Course (inclosed in the file with the outline as if it were an integral part thereouth as used. Fall 8 9 and 10 are dissing-
  - id could directive wi school dours.
  - ly pomot directive wit thannels for administration authors.
  - 20 behasi biractive si2- behasi mare, dese of operation, aroung.
  - 21 Sensol Directive glo- rinks reports on stalents to or anizations.
  - 22 Supplement to School surrective alb Specialties taught in each department and Shik to be given each course.
  - 23 Letter from makiquar ders immer anterce, tor communicate to be made ling officer, brown sate of in remark to arrival of 1750 enusted associated.
  - 24 craft of history if REGIO Pepar d for closed officer Third Fighter Command. The exact date of preparation is unavailable, however, from information contained therein, it was written approximately damages of 1743.
  - 25 "copy" of above draft in final form. The above listed draft and the copy submitted to support statements contained in this history, as well as to give a broader outlook on saletly how prominent a part the achooks play in the history of halffly and the procleas experienced and overcome.
  - 26 General Order of Headquarters 2nd Signal na Training Battalion. Organization of 2nd Signal an Training Battalion. Assumption of Command by Major Cary. Units attached.
  - 27 General order #2 Meadquarters 2nd Signal At Training dettations assumption of command by it Col Baiph P Stiebl.

- EARIBIT 28 General Order \$3, Headquarters 2nd Signal AW Training BattalionS Hedesignation of Headquarters Company to meanquarters and meadequarters Company.
  - 29 General order #4, Heanquarters 2nd Signal an Training matternon, assumption of command by at Gol Herbert E hatkins.
  - 30 General Order #5, Headquarters and Statut an Training Datterious Assumption of command by Lt Col Raigh P Strend.
  - 31 Copies of all memorands issued by Headquarters South Signal and Mattalion.
  - 32 rmptographs of school activities.
  - 33 Chippings appearing in in we should papers.

## Unit History

Section I. Personnel & Administration - Organization

The present | epartment was organized as the Radio "A" Behool, with Headquarters known as the Aircraft arning Service Fraining Senter. The "A" designation in the title of the impartment was to differentiate between "DSRAX" and Radio Lepartments. Derax was the Department known at the present time as the Radar Leo partment. The organization was placed in active duty approximately 16 Federaler 1941, which was about two cays after the site, lent city, was activated. occupied by troops brought from the lourth and Fifth Training Sattalions, Fort meeler, (Infantry) Macon, Georgia, and numbered about 1700 enlisted men with a complement of Officers from various arms and Branches, mainly infantry, Field Artillery, etc. the Cepartment had its Readquarters where the new hanger is built, west of the 1d forth Cate, (10th St. and Avenue J.) the present site being occupied by the new & Building. The area was composed of some twelve to fourteen rows of pyramidal tents each row being known as a "Company" and designated as Company No. 1, No. 2., stc.etc., and extended from lamps May Mivd. to where the present Commissary is lacated. The area described was the entire area occupied by Signal Corps troops, the remaineer of the field being devoted to the III Interceptor Command, and the III Fighter Corwand, Air Corps. The re-ainder of the present Signal Corps Field (Tent Area) was swamp land and palmetto palma. Derax (Hadar) was later located in this swamp-lake area, camouflaged by Pale trees, etc. and was initiated very early in the history of the Field. Two other departments were organized and placed into activation at the same time, madio A Dept. Derax and A.S regardent, known as the I. C. Department now. Administration, T& T, Cleatrical Fundamentals, Teletype Le artments were formed much later in the history of the Field, and are no longer activated to any degree. Authority for the activation of this School | epartment came from the School Headquarters, A.A.S.T.C., III Interceptor Command, Drew Field, Tampa, Florida. The personnel and Officers were obtained from the original troops mentioned and other sources. The names of the Key Personnel are shown on Inclosure No. 1, titled: Key Personnel, initial, SO 4, Hq. A.STC, dtd 21 Dec. 41.

The original strength of the personnel of the Radio A Department was twenty-three (23) men and one (1) officer. This number was soon augented by the addition of officers who were placed in charge of the various sections of the school and by the further addition of enlisted personnel to the teaching staff, taken from the graduate classes. Purpose of the additional officers was to assist in the teaching, and not in supervisory work as at present.

The Descriment was founded in the area south and west of the tent site. The geographical conditions were excellent, flat topography, sandy base, absence from interfering brees, etc. The school consisted of three tents for class rooms, one supply tent, one office, and a circus tent holding about 500 persons. Blackboards and long mess-table type of desks and benches were the only facilities for seating the classes. There was a platform holding a large blackboard in the circus tent where the men were taken for their orientation and welcoming lecture by the Lepartment Head, or by the Assistant Administrator, an enlisted man. The enlargement and modernization of the school facilities were responsible for the moving of the Lepartment from the old area to the present area, 5th and J. Ave., Also

co-responsible for the move was the desire to locate all the training schools in an area closely connected with the School Headquarters. The situation as it was called for message runners to the School Headquarters innumerable times each day, and inasmuch as there was a great amount of delay in presenting passes to the MP's at the boundary gate, it was decided to alter the location. The various Department's tents, comprising their schools, were in a drowded condition due to shortage of space in which to expand, and as a result, definite areas for the different schools were provided, and accordingly, the Department moved to its new and present location about April 1942 and has been in that location since.

II. Intelligence - Blank.

# III. Operations and Training.

Code Section: The object of this section was to train men as Radio Operators for Aircraft arning Units. The Radio Operators Course originally started out as an eight weeks course which was later changed to a six weeks course and then to a four weeks course because of the urgent need for radio operators. In february, 1943, the course was again extended to six weeks and the qualifying code speed jumped from eight was to 10 wpm. Very shortly after that the qualifying speed for SSN 776, Radio Operator, Low Speed, was raised to 12 wpm and the school was given permission to hold men over six weeks if it was thought that they could be made into Radio Operators if a little more time was given to the man.

On 28 August 43 AAF Memorandum 100-9 was published which required that all low speed radio operators be able to take 16 wpm. This Department immediately complied with this memorandum. Due to the raising of the standards of qualifications it was necessary to lengthen the course. It was decided that the most efficient way to do this was to have an indifinite length course and to qualify a man when he met all the requirements regardless of how long or short a time spent at the rebool. This system is now in practice.

At the beginning of the cade section the code instructors themselves wired the tables and installed headsets and phones. TG:5's were used and nets were established with the TG-5's thruout the area about the tents. Talk was kept to a minimum inassuch as the nets were so class due to the type of equi; ment available, that it was possible to hear the stations without use of the key. which building had its Instructor who did nothing but key the speeds until a Keyer was obtained, and then one keyer was placed in each room with tapes. Later it was decided to centralise the keying and the keyers were placed in the control room, which occupied one corner of the supply tent, and attended by one man. The rooms were supplied with the various speeds thru a wired sound system (speakers) and the same system, with modifications is in effect in the present location, and is known as the Code Control room. The machines in this Control room are automatic code machines which are used to transmit code throughout the various code rooms in the Department. The machines are connected to transmitting lines overhead which, in turn, are connected to the switchboards in the code rooms. The machines carry tapes comprised of five lessons for the beginners and speeds from 6 was to 25 wps for the more advanced students. These machines make it possible to give to a student code of a speed according to his ability. These machines are electrically controlled by synchronous motors and activated by photoelectric cells. They are manually re-wound. Correction of speed-running of the tapes is controlled by a two way inter-classroom speaker system.